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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner Corey Mann asks this Court to grant review of the court of 

appeals’ unpublished decision in State v. Mann, No. 75144-1-1, filed July 2, 

2018 (attached as an appendix).   

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is this Court’s review warranted where Mann’s case presents 

the rare circumstance where severance from his codefendant was necessary, 

given the degree of irreconcilable, antagonistic defenses? 

2. Is this Court’s review warranted to determine whether Mann 

was entitled to an inferior degree instruction on second degree felony murder 

and whether the trial court’s refusal of the instruction was harmless? 

3. Is this Court’s review warranted to determine whether 

Mann’s counsel was ineffective for failing to request the standard cautionary 

instruction on accomplice testimony, where the State’s case hinged on 

accomplice testimony? 

4. Is this Court’s review warranted where repeated, erroneous 

references to Mann’s purported propensity for violence deprived him of his 

right to a fair trial? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State charged Michael Galloway, Tiana Wood-Sims, Gary 

Sanders, and Mann with first degree felony murder.  CP 1.  The State alleged 
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that on June 3, 2013, the four defendants caused the death of Latasha Walker 

in the course of or in furtherance of first degree robbery or first degree 

burglary.  CP 1, 9.  Galloway and Wood-Sims pleaded guilty to second 

degree murder and testified against Mann and Sanders at their joint trial.  

14RP 1187-96; 20RP 1780-81.  Sanders also testified at trial.  22RP 2126.   

Wood-Sims lived in Kent with her mother, Kamala Wood, and step-

father, Robert Mann, who is Mann’s uncle.  11RP 852-56; 19RP 1585-88.  

Galloway is a friend of Mann’s and Sanders is Mann’s brother-in-law.  14RP 

1072-73; 22RP 2127.  Wood-Sims and Walker were friends.  19RP 1592.   

Walker introduced Wood-Sims to drugs, and they began purchasing 

and using drugs together frequently.  19RP 1593-96.  Walker also sold drugs 

out of the Kent apartment she shared with her boyfriend, Kevin McGee.  

13RP 999-1001; 19RP 1667-68.  Wood-Sims testified she told Mann about 

the money and drugs Walker kept at her apartment, which they agreed to 

steal while McGee was in jail.  19RP 1606-08.   

On June 3, 2013, Wood-Sims testified she spent the day with 

Walker, while keeping Mann apprised of their whereabouts.  19RP 1611-20.  

Galloway testified that same day Mann and Sanders picked him up in 

Burien.  14RP 1072-73; 22RP 2127.  Galloway claimed Mann told him 

about the money and drugs, and asked Galloway to help with the theft.  

14RP 1072-75.   
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Sometime after 7:00 p.m., Wood-Sims texted Mann that she and 

Walker had returned to Walker’s apartment.  20RP 1734-36.  The men 

knocked on Walker’s front door soon after, though they had not planned for 

Walker to be present during the theft.  14RP 1106; 20RP 1738, 1763.  

Walker called from the bedroom for Wood-Sims to answer the door.  20RP 

1738-41.  Galloway asked if he could borrow jumper cables or use the phone 

because he was having car trouble.  14RP 1106; 20RP 1738; 22RP 2148.  

Walker told Wood-Sims to let the men inside.  20RP 1738-42.   

Wood-Sims told Mann the money and drugs were in the dresser in 

Walker’s bedroom, where Walker still was.  20RP 1749.  Galloway testified 

he and Mann entered the bedroom and Mann started wrestling with Walker 

while Galloway looked for the money and drugs.  14RP 1108-11.  Galloway 

testified Sanders helped restrain Walker and hit Walker four times in the 

stomach with his elbow.  14RP 1116.   

The men soon left with items from Walker’s apartment, though never 

found the money or drugs.  14RP 1112-23; 20RP 1758.  Wood-Sims then 

went into Walker’s bedroom and found her slouched against the dresser with 

a belt loose around her neck.  20RP 1771-72.  Wood-Sims ran outside for 

help and a woman nearby called 911 and performed CPR on Walker.  15RP 

1400-03; 20RP 1773-74.  Emergency medical personnel could not revive 

Walker.  21RP 1909.  The medical examiner determined several large 
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lacerations to Walker’s liver, likely inflicted by blunt force, caused her to 

bleed to death internally.  21RP 1917-36. 

Wood-Sims gave a statement to police the same night.   13RP 900-

06.  She said two Hispanic men and one black man arrived at Walker’s door 

claiming they needed a jump start then forced their way inside.  13RP 901-

06.  She gave detailed descriptions of the men, which did not match 

Galloway, Sanders, or Mann.  13RP 905-06.  Later that same night, Wood-

Sims changed her story: Walker had been selling drugs out of her apartment 

and the men were customers.  13RP 908-09.     

Wood-Sims testified at trial that she lied on June 3.  20RP 1777.  She 

testified that in November 2013, she finally admitted she set up the crime 

when confronted her with cell phone records showing her calling and texting 

back and forth with Mann on June 3.  20RP 1778-79.  She did not admit the 

full extent of her involvement until February 2014 when she was hoping for 

a plea deal.  20RP 1832-34. 

Wood-Sims testified Mann shared a cell phone with his then-

girlfriend, now-wife Jessica Ozuna.  19RP 1589, 1690-92.  Cell tower data 

placed that phone in Kent around the time of the murder.  15RP 1326-31; 

20RP 1852-54; 21RP 1957-59.  Galloway testified that, after the incident, 

they first drove to Burien to visit Dejuan Weems, Mann’s brother-in-law, 

and then to Everett, which cell tower data corroborated.  14RP 1062-65, 
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1124-33; 19RP 1690; 20RP 1853; 21RP 1959-63.  Wood-Sims claimed 

Sanders stole her cell phone during the incident, and her phone pinged a cell 

tower in Everett later that evening.  15RP 1386-91; 19RP 1590; 20RP 1759-

60, 1853-56.   

Two latent fingerprints lifted from Walker’s dresser belonged to 

Galloway.  14RP 1158-59.  Galloway confessed and was charged with 

murder in October 2013 after being confronted with the prints.  14RP 1182-

86.  None of the other prints found matched Mann or Sanders.  14RP 1160.  

No comparisons could be made to several DNA samples taken from 

Walker’s body.  18RP 1477-84.  Mann was excluded as a possible 

contributor of male DNA found on Walker’s neck.  18RP 1493-95.   

The State also introduced evidence Ozuna pawned a watch at Cash 

America in Burien on June 20, 2013, which McGee claimed was his.  13RP 

1029-34; 18RP 1503-06, 1561-71.  Aaron Graving, who worked with 

Weems, also testified Weems sold him a Samsung Galaxy phone, which was 

traced back to Walker’s missing phone.  13RP 1032-33; 18RP 1421-26; 

19RP 1674-85.   

The jury found Mann and Sanders guilty as charged.  CP 133; 

25RP 2423.  The trial court sentenced Mann to 493 months of 

confinement.  CP 139-41.  The court of appeals rejected all of Mann’s 

arguments on appeal and affirmed his conviction.  Opinion, 23. 
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D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. THIS COURT’S REVIEW IS WARRANTED BECAUSE 

MANN’S CASE PRESENTS THE RARE 

CIRCUMSTANCE WHERE SEVERANCE FROM HIS 

CODEFENDANT WAS NECESSARY. 

 

A trial court abuses its discretion in denying a motion to sever from a 

codefendant when there is specific prejudice to the accused.  State v. Jones, 

93 Wn. App. 166, 171, 968 P.2d 888 (1998).  Courts infer specific prejudice 

from the following:  

“(1) antagonistic defenses conflicting to the point of being 

irreconcilable and mutually exclusive; (2) a massive and 

complex quantity of evidence making it almost impossible 

for the jury to separate evidence as it related to each 

defendant when determining each defendant’s innocence or 

guilt; (3) a co-defendant’s statement inculpating the moving 

defendant; (4) or gross disparity in the weight of the evidence 

against the defendants.” 

 

Id. at 171-72 (quoting State v. Canedo-Astorga, 79 Wn. App. 518, 528, 

903 P.2d 500 (1995)).   

Mutually antagonistic defenses alone are insufficient to compel 

separate trials.  State v. Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 74, 804 P.2d 577 (1991).  

“Rather, it must be demonstrated that the conflict is so prejudicial that 

defenses are irreconcilable, and the jury will unjustifiably infer that this 

conflict alone demonstrates that both are guilty.”  Id. 

After the State rested and before Sanders presented his case, Mann 

moved to sever because Sanders intended to introduce testimony from Juan 
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Rodriguez, who was previously in custody with Mann and to whom Mann 

purportedly made several incriminating statements.  22RP 2059-64.  Mann 

pointed out Rodriguez’s testimony would “concern Mann alone,” with the 

intent of “basically putting [Mann] in as much of a bad light as possible, 

demonizing him, to use that term, so as to make [Sanders] look better.”  

22RP 2063. 

The trial court admitted Rodriguez’s testimony, noting Sanders “is 

entitled to present a defense.”  22RP 2065.  The court did, however, prohibit 

Rodriguez from testifying regarding Mann’s purported reputation for 

violence.  22RP 2067-68.  Sanders renewed his motion to sever: “So we 

could still sever this, and I think we ought to.”  22RP 2067.   

The court acknowledged “this is a minefield,” but denied the motions 

to sever.  22RP 2067-68, 2071.  The court further acknowledged, speaking to 

Mann’s counsel, “And just so that the suspense is avoided, I assure you, 

[Sanders’s counsel] is going to probably attack your client.  I think their 

interests are in opposition.  He has a different theory of the case.  I think that 

that’s evident.”  22RP 2076-77.  The court ruled, however, “[t]hat in and of 

itself is not a reason to sever this trial . . . and that’s why this Court has 

denied the motions already on two occasions.”  22RP 2077. 

Rodriguez testified he met Mann in jail during the fall of 2013.  

22RP 2085, 2095.  He claimed Mann told him a girl “got killed” when “they 
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were going to go get pills or money or something, and it just went south 

from there.”  22RP 2088.  Rodriguez said Mann “had given her internal 

bleeding” and she stopped breathing after “he was beating her up.”  22RP 

2098.  Rodriguez further claimed Mann said “he ended up slamming the girl 

to the ground and choking her.”  22RP 2102.   

Sanders testified that, on June 3, 2013, Mann picked him up near his 

house in Everett and drove to Burien without ever telling him what was 

going on.  22RP 2139-44.  Once in Kent, Sanders claimed Mann told him he 

was there to get some money, but no other details.  22RP 2144-45.  Sanders 

testified that when Galloway and Mann rushed into Walker’s apartment, he 

was “shocked” and “didn’t expect anything like this.”  22RP 2150.  Sanders 

claimed he did not touch Walker and did not take anything from her 

apartment.  22RP 2171-76.  Sanders explained: “I didn’t think what 

happened was going to happen.  I didn’t think it was going to be anything 

like that.  But with it being Corey, I wasn’t sure.”  22RP 2207.  He claimed 

he participated only because Mann told him to get out of the car and if he 

refused, Mann “would probably come look for me, and gun me down or 

something.”  22RP 2208, 2212.  The trial court then sustained Mann’s 

objection to Sanders’s next statement: “So, with that type of individual, 

that’s what I felt like --.”  22RP 2212. 
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On cross-examination, Sanders admitted he previously told a 

detective he agreed to help Mann get money and drugs from Walker’s 

apartment in exchanged for $1,000.  22RP 2223-29.  Sanders further 

admitted he knew he was helping facilitate the robbery, and he looked 

through Walker’s dresser while Mann restrained Walker.  22RP 2236-45.  

Over defense objection, the trial court allowed Sanders to testify Mann told 

him, after the robbery, “[t]o be quiet, not talk to police.”  23RP 2271-72. 

In closing argument, Sanders continued the theme of being bullied 

by Mann into participating.  Sanders’s counsel argued, “Corey goes by Sir.  

He likes to be called Sir . . . How does a guy do that without being pushy and 

a bully,” claiming “[t]hat’s how Gary Sanders got into this.”  24RP 2390.  

Counsel emphasized Mann’s purported confession to Rodriguez: “Corey 

said, I killed her.  Corey said, I made her bleed out . . . Only somebody who 

tried to do that would have known about that.”  24RP 2393.  Sanders’s 

counsel final comment in closing was: “[Sanders’s] personality would not 

have led him into this, were it not for his being pushed into it by Sir Corey 

Mann.  Thank you.”  24RP 2405. 

By contrast, Mann’s defense was denial.  In closing, Mann’s 

counsel emphasized “there’s no forensic evidence whatsoever against 

Corey Mann.  Nothing.  No DNA evidence, no fingerprints.”  24RP 2378.  

Mann’s counsel further emphasized “there aren’t any independent, 
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disinterested, unbiased eyewitnesses to this crime.  No one.”  24RP 2378.  

Specifically, Galloway and Wood-Sims pleaded down to second degree 

murder in exchange for their trial testimony.  24RP 2378-84.  And, 

counsel pointed out, Sanders “is hoping to avoid a conviction, or hoping to 

get a lesser charge, and the worse Mr. Mann looks, the better Mr. Sanders 

does.”  24RP 2379. 

The court of appeals rejected Mann’s argument that these 

irreconcilable defenses necessitated severance, relying heavily on this 

Court’s decision in State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012).  

Opinion, 7-10.  Sublett does set a high bar for severance; however, that 

standard is met here. 

Olsen and Sublett were tried jointly for the murder of Totten.  

Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 67.  Sublett’s defense was general denial.  Id. at 69.  

Olsen’s defense was that he was not present for the murder, but only helped 

move the body after the fact because Sublett threatened him.  Id.  The court 

held severance was not warranted because, “[w]hile the two defenses are 

irreconcilable, they do not reach the level where the jury would unjustifiably 

infer from the conflict that both are guilty.”  Id.  The court explained it was 

apparent from the jury’s verdict that it did not believe either defense, and 

Sublett failed to show “that this was due to the conflicting defenses rather 

than the evidence presented during trial.”  Id. at 70. 
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Mann’s case is distinguishable from Sublett, given Sanders’s 

testimony and out-of-court confession, which were admitted in the join trial.  

Sanders initially testified he accompanied Mann and Galloway to Walker’s 

apartment, unaware of what was about to occur.  On cross-examination, 

Sanders admitted he told the detective he knew of the planned robbery and 

willingly participated.  Either way, then, Sanders’s testimony established 

Mann committed first degree felony murder. 

This is different than Sublett, where Olsen claimed he was only 

involved after the fact and there was no confession establishing both men’s 

guilt.  In Mann’s case, however, the jury could infer from the conflict 

between the two defenses that both men were guilty.  The evidence Sanders 

presented in his own defense implicated both men, which alone could have 

resulted in the jury verdict.  Moreover, there was no suggestion in Sublett 

that any out-of-court statements by Olsen were introduced at the joint trial, 

also distinguishable from Mann’s case. 

The court of appeals rejected Mann’s contention Sanders may not 

have testified against him in a separate trial, given Sanders’s right against 

self-incrimination, which continues through the direct appeal.  The court 

relied on a Ninth Circuit case, United States v. Throckmorton, 87 F.3d 1069 

(9th Cir. 1996), in concluding Sanders “could have been available to testify 



 -12-  

in Mann’s separate trial,” emphasizing Sanders “did not assert his right 

against self-incrimination in the joint trial.”  Opinion, 9. 

The court of appeals, however, engaged in speculation that Sanders 

would testify against Mann in a separate trial, where the State would have no 

subpoena power over him.  Regardless, Mann’s and Sanders’s defenses were 

still antagonistic and irreconcilable.  Certainly, Sanders would not have 

presented closing argument in a separate trial, at which he argued he 

participated only because of “being pushed into it by Sir Corey Mann.”  

24RP 2405.  Mann would not have been forced to defend against both the 

State and Sanders at a separate trial.  Under the circumstances, severance 

was necessary to protect Mann’s right to a fair trial.  This Court’s review is 

therefore warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4). 

2. THIS COURT’S REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO 

DETERMINE WHETHER MANN WAS ENTITLED TO 

AN INFERIOR DEGREE INSTRUCTION ON SECOND 

DEGREE FELONY MURDER. 

 

Mann requested jury instructions on the inferior offense of second 

degree felony murder with the predicate felonies of assault or theft.  CP 

128-32; 23RP 2313.  Mann’s theory was the jury could find he did not 

commit predicate felony of first degree burglary because Walker permitted 

Wood-Sims to let the men inside her apartment, and so they did not enter 

or remain unlawfully.  23RP 2279-80, 2310-11.  The trial court denied 
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Mann’s request, finding the factual prong was not met.  23RP 2314, 2323.  

The court did, however, grant Sanders’s request for an instruction on 

second degree murder, with the predicate felony of completed or 

attempted second degree theft.  23RP 2314-16, 2324; CP 87-92. 

The defense is entitled to have the jury instructed not only on the 

charged offense, but also on all inferior degree and lesser included offenses.  

RCW 10.61.006.  A crime is an “inferior degree” of another when: 

(1) the statutes for both the charged offense and the proposed 

inferior degree offense “proscribe but one offense”; (2) 

the information charges an offense that is divided into 

degrees, and the proposed offense is an inferior degree of 

the charged offense; and (3) there is evidence that the 

defendant committed only the inferior offense.[1] 

 

State v. Peterson, 133 Wn.2d 885, 891, 948 P.2d 381 (1997) (quoting State 

v. Foster, 91 Wn.2d 466, 472, 589 P.2d 789 (1979).  The defense is entitled 

to the inferior degree instruction when the answer to all these questions is 

yes.  State v. Condon, 182 Wn.2d 307, 316, 343 P.3d 357 (2015).  

The first two, or “legal,” prongs are met here.  First and second 

degree felony murder proscribe but one offense.  They encompass the 

same conduct: an individual commits felony murder when he or she 

                                                 
1 The Workman test applies to lesser included rather than inferior degree 

offenses.  The legal prong of the Workman test is different (each of the elements 

of the lesser offense must be necessary elements of the great offense), but the 

factual prong is the same (the evidence must support an inference that the lesser 

crime was committed).  State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 

(1978).  
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causes the death of another person in the course of or in immediate flight 

from a felony.  Put simply, they penalize death that occurs in the 

commission of a felony.  The statute is then divided into degrees based on 

the predicate felony.  RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c), .050(1)(b).   

Below, the State argued second degree felony murder is not an 

inferior degree of first degree felony murder.  Br. of Resp’t, 27-32.  Rather, 

the State contended, the lesser included offense analysis applied.  Br. of 

Resp’t, 28-29.  The State claimed “the only second-degree felony murders 

that meet the legal prong of the Workman test are those that are predicated 

on felonies that are lesser-included offenses of the felony on which the 

charged first-degree murder is based.”  Br. of Resp’t, 28.   

The court of appeals did not decide this issue, concluding it was 

“immaterial in this case,” because Mann failed to demonstrate the factual 

prong, which is the same for both tests.  Opinion, at 16-17.  This Court has 

never conclusively held second degree felony murder is an inferior degree 

of first degree felony murder.  State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 524-27, 

14 P.3d 713 (2000) (applying but not examining inferior degree analysis).  

This Court’s guidance is therefore warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

This Court’s review is further warranted because the court of 

appeals’ analysis of the factual prong is incorrect under this Court’s decision 

in Condon.  There was evidence Mann, Galloway, and Sanders did not 
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enter or remain unlawfully in Walker’s apartment because Walker 

permitted Wood-Sims to let them inside.  20RP 1738-41; 22RP 2149.  

Even if sufficient evidence supports the burglary, whether their license to 

enter was impliedly revoked was debatable.  Without the element of 

entering or remaining unlawfully, Mann did not commit the predicate 

felony of first degree burglary.  The evidence with regard to the burglary, 

then, supported a finding of assault or second degree theft inside Walker’s 

apartment.  These are predicate felonies for second degree felony murder, 

consistent with Mann’s proposed instructions. 

Under Condon, the fact that the evidence established a first degree 

robbery is not dispositive.  Condon was charged, in the alternative, with 

first degree premeditated (intentional) murder and first degree felony 

murder.  Condon, 182 Wn.2d at 313, 325.  There was evidence suggesting 

the murder was not premeditated.  Id. at 311-13.  But the trial court 

rejected Condon’s request for an instruction on second degree intentional 

murder because it was not a lesser included offense to the first degree 

felony murder charge.  Id. at 313.  This Court reversed the trial court, 

holding “Condon did not have to show that second degree intentional 

murder was a lesser included offense of both charges.”  Id. at 318.   

The reasoning and holding of Condon should apply here: 

premeditated murder and felony murder are alternative means of 
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committing first degree murder, just as first degree burglary and first 

degree robbery are alternative means of committing first degree felony 

murder.  Mann therefore does not have to show the lesser predicate 

felonies (theft or assault) were committed to the exclusion of the 

alternative predicate felony of robbery.  The court of appeals was incorrect 

in its implicit requirement that Mann prove he committed the lesser 

predicate felonies to the exclusion of both robbery and burglary.  See 

Opinion, 17-18. 

Finally, further clarification is necessary regarding this Court’s 

recently articulated harmless error standard in State v. Schierman, 

__Wn.2d__, 415 P.3d 106 (2018).  In Condon, this Court refused to apply 

harmless error analysis to the erroneous denial of a lesser included 

instruction.  182 Wn.2d at 325.  But, in Schierman, this Court held denial of 

a lesser included manslaughter instruction to be harmless, where Schierman 

received a both a voluntary intoxication and a second degree intentional 

murder instruction, which allowed him to argue a diminished mental state to 

the jury.  415 P.3d at 148.  The jury rejected that defense, though, and 

convicted Schierman of first degree premeditated murder.  Id.  As such, there 

was “no possibility that a manslaughter instruction would have led the jury 

to a different conclusion.”  Id. 
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The State argued below that any refusal of the instruction in Mann’s 

case was harmless because Sanders received an inferior degree instruction, 

which the jury rejected.  Br. of Resp’t, 33-36.  The court of appeals did not 

reach the issue of harmlessness.  Condon and Schierman, read together, still 

set a high bar for harmless error.  The error was not harmless in Mann’s case.  

Unlike Schierman, Mann did not have the opportunity to argue for a lesser 

conviction based on the defense that a burglary did not occur, given the 

arguably lawful entry into Walker’s apartment.  Sanders’s defense was 

different than Mann’s—Sanders claimed did not fully participate and was 

not aware of the plan to rob Walker.  This Court’s review is warranted and 

guidance necessary for these multiple reasons. 

3. THIS COURT’S REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO 

DETERMINE WHETHER MANN’S COUNSEL WAS 

INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO REQUEST THE 

STANDARD CAUTIONARY INSTRUCTION ON 

ACCOMPLICE TESTIMONY. 

 

The accused’s constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel 

if violated when (1) the attorney’s performance was deficient and (2) the 

deficiency prejudiced the accused.  Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 

668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 109 

Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) 

Washington courts recognize significant issues of credibility when an 

accomplice testifies on behalf of the State and incriminates the defendant.  
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State v. Harris, 102 Wn.2d 148, 152-55, 685 P.2d 584 (1984), overruled on 

other grounds by State v. McKinsey, 116 Wn.2d 911, 810 P.2d 907 (1991).  

This Court has accordingly approved of giving a cautionary instruction in 

cases where the prosecution relies on accomplice testimony:   

Testimony of an accomplice, given on behalf of the 

[State] [City] [County], should be subjected to careful 

examination in the light of other evidence in the case, and 

should be acted upon with great caution.  You should not find 

the defendant guilty upon such testimony alone unless, after 

carefully considering the testimony, you are satisfied beyond 

a reasonable doubt of its truth. 

 

11 WASH. PRACTICE: WASH. PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 

6.05 (Oct. 2016 Update) (WPIC); State v. Carothers, 84 Wn.2d 256, 269, 

525 P.2d 731 (1974). 

This Court has recognized “it is always the better practice for a trial 

court to give the cautionary instruction whenever accomplice testimony is 

introduced.”  Harris, 102 Wn.2d at 155.  As such, “failure to give this 

instruction is always reversible error when the prosecution relies solely on 

accomplice testimony.”  Id.  Even where there is independent evidence of 

guilt, reversal is required in the absence of a cautionary instruction unless the 

accomplice’s testimony is “substantially corroborated by testimonial, 

documentary or circumstantial evidence.”  Id. (emphasis added). 

Mann’s counsel did not propose the standard cautionary 

instruction, nor did the trial court instruct the jury on it.  See CP 59-99 
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(court’s instructions to the jury); 120-32 (defense-proposed instructions).  

Mann would have been entitled to the instruction had his counsel requested 

it.  Mann, Sanders, Galloway, and Wood-Sims were all charged with first 

degree murder in the same charging document.  The State proceeded under 

a theory of accomplice liability.  See, e.g., CP 71; 24RP 2345-49.  The 

State relied on the testimony of accomplices—Galloway and Wood-

Sims—to convict Mann.  The trial court would have erred in refusing the 

instruction had Mann’s counsel requested it. 

There was no legitimate strategic reason for failing to request the 

cautionary instruction where Mann was entitled to it and it was entirely 

consistent with his defense theory.  Galloway’s and Wood-Sims’s bias and 

lack of credibility as witnesses for the State were key components of 

Mann’s defense.  Mann’s cross-examination of Galloway and Wood-Sims, 

along with his closing argument, focused on their bias as witnesses for the 

State and the plea deals they received in exchange for their incriminating 

testimony.  14RP 1199-1209; 20RP 1784-95; 24RP 2378-39.   

The cautionary instruction on accomplice testimony would have 

substantially bolstered Mann’s argument that, as accomplices testifying 

for the State, Galloway’s and Wood-Sims’s testimony could not be blindly 

trusted, but rather needed to be subjected to searching scrutiny.  But 

Mann’s counsel was left attempting to convince the jury that it should 
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consider their testimony only with “careful examination” and “great 

caution.”  WPIC 6.05.  Those words coming from the judge’s mouth 

would have been far more persuasive and useful to Mann’s case.  

Counsel’s failure to request the pattern instruction fellow below an 

objective standard of reasonableness. 

The court of appeals correctly recognized “[i]t is always the better 

practice for a trial court to give the cautionary instruction whenever 

accomplice testimony is introduced.”  Opinion, 19.  The court further 

agreed “[t]he State presented an abundance of accomplice testimony at 

Mann’s trial.”  Opinion, 19.  The court nevertheless concluded Mann was 

not prejudiced by the lack of instruction, given the “other evidence that 

corroborated [Galloway’s and Wood-Sims’s] testimony.”  Opinion, 19-20.   

Contrary to the court of appeals’ decision, however, there is a 

reasonable probability that the outcome of Mann’s trial would have been 

different had the jury been properly cautioned on the suspect credibility of 

accomplice testimony.  The State’s case hinged on Wood-Sims’s and 

Galloway’s testimony, which was not substantially corroborated by 

independent evidence.  While it is not necessary that every part of an 

accomplice’s testimony be corroborated, independent evidence must 

“fairly tend[] to connect the accused with the commission of the crime 
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charged.”  State v. Calhoun, 13 Wn. App. 644, 648, 536 P.2d 668 (1975).  

This standard is not met here. 

There was some independent evidence Mann was somehow 

involved in the aftermath of Walker’s murder.  But none of this evidence 

established Mann was involved in the predicate felonies of robbery or 

burglary.  Only Galloway’s and Wood-Sims’s testimony placed Mann 

inside Walker’s apartment.  Only their testimony established Mann helped 

plan and participate in the burglary and/or robbery—essential elements of 

first degree felony murder.  Without this accomplice testimony, the State 

could not prove Mann committed first degree felony murder.   

Defense counsel’s failure was further prejudicial where Mann’s 

defense centered around discrediting Galloway and Wood-Sims, as 

accomplices receiving substantial benefits from the State in exchange for 

their testimony.  The instruction would have been far more effective in doing 

so than any argument Mann’s attorney could make.  Lack of a cautionary 

instruction undermines confidence in the outcome of Mann’s trial.   

This Court’s review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) to determine 

whether defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request the cautionary 

accomplice testimony instruction, where the State’s case hinged on the 

accomplice testimony of Galloway and Wood-Sims.  
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4. THIS COURT’S REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO 

DETERMINE WHETHER NOTHING SHORT OF A 

MISTRIAL COULD HAVE CURED REPEATED 

REFERENCES TO MANN’S PURPORTED PROPENSITY 

FOR CRIME. 

 

Trial irregularities may result in such prejudice to the accused that he 

or she is denied the right to a fair trial.  State v. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. 251, 

254, 742 P.2d 190 (1987).  Here, the jury heard repeated references to 

Mann’s criminal history and purported propensity for crime, violating a 

trial court ruling in limine.  1RP 22, 46.   

Wood, mother of Wood-Sims, testified on direct that Ozuna “is 

Corey’s girlfriend.  When he was locked up, they got together.”  11RP 

859.  Wood further testified she met Ozuna “when Corey got out of 

prison,” suggesting long-term incarceration, as opposed to “jail.”  11RP 

859.  The court struck the statements and instructed the jury to disregard, 

and thereafter denied Mann’s motion for a mistrial.  11RP 859, 877-78.   

Sanders also testified, with regards to Mann, “And I know he 

wasn’t going to just let me jump out of the car and walk away.  He would 

probably come look for me, and gun me down or something.  So, with that 

type of individual, that’s what I felt like --.”  22RP 2212.  Mann’s counsel 

objected and the trial court instructed the jury to “disregard the last 

statement.”  22RP 2212. 
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The court of appeals rejected Mann’s argument that a new trial was 

necessary, emphasizing the witnesses were not professionals and their 

remarks were not responsive to the prosecutor’s questions.  Opinion, 22.  

The court held the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying 

Mann’s mistrial motions, given the curative instructions and “in the 

context of the trial as a whole and all the evidence.”  Opinion, 22. 

However, both Wood’s and Sanders’s testimony violated the trial 

court’s pretrial ruling, making them serious irregularities.  State v. Gamble, 

168 Wn.2d 161, 178, 225 P.3d 973 (2010).  The erroneous references to 

Mann’s propensity for crime were also not cumulative of other properly 

admitted evidence, because Rodriguez testified only that Mann was jailed 

for misdemeanor.  22RP 2060-68, 2095.  And, the multiple references to 

Mann’s propensity for crime and violence could not be cured by the 

instructions to disregard, given their cumulative effect and how “highly 

prejudicial” such propensity evidence is.  State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 

862, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). 

Contrary to the court of appeals’ decision, nothing short of a 

mistrial could have cured the resulting prejudice.  This Court should grant 

review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and reverse the court of appeals. 
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E. CONCLUSION 

For the aforementioned reasons, Mann respectfully requests that this 

Court grant review and reverse the court of appeals. 

DATED this 25th day of July, 2018. 

  Respectfully submitted,  

  NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 

   

  ________________________________ 

  MARY T. SWIFT 

  WSBA No. 45668 

  Office ID No. 91051 

 

 Attorneys for Petitioner 
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APPELWICK, C.J. — Mann was convicted of first degree felony murder. He

argues that the trial court erred in denying his motion to sever the trial from his

codefendant, in refusing to instruct the jury on the inferior offense of second degree

felony murder, and in denying his motions for mistrial after references to his

criminal history. He also argues that the State failed to prove first degree burglary,

one of the offered alternative predicate crimes for felony murder. And, he argues

that he received ineffective assistance of counsel, and that cumulative errors

deprived him of a fair trial. We affirm.

FACTS

In 2013, Tiana Wood-Sims reconnected with Latasha Walker, an

acquaintance from high school, and soon they began using drugs together. Walker

also sold drugs out of the apartment she shared with her boyfriend, Kenneth
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McGee. Wood-Sims saw drugs and money in Walker's apartment. Wood-Sims

told her cousin, Corey Mann, about the drugs and money in Walker's apartment,

and they agreed to rob Walker.

On June 3, 2013, Wood-Sims spent the day with Walker away from

Walker's apartment. Throughout the day, Wood-Sims stayed in contact with Mann,

informing him of where she and Walker were, so that Mann could rob the apartment

while they were gone. Michael Galloway testified that on that day Mann met him

at a skate park and told him about the plan to rob Walker's apartment. Mann was

also with Gary Sanders, whom Mann introduced to Galloway as his brother-in-law.

Galloway agreed to go with Mann. Galloway drove Mann and Sanders to the

apartment building for the robbery, following Mann's instructions.

At the apartment, Mann indicated for Galloway to knock on the front door.

After Galloway knocked, they saw someone coming so Galloway, Sanders, and

Mann returned to the car. Wood-Sims sent Mann a text message that she and

Walker were back at Walker's apartment. About 10 to 15 minutes later, the three

men went to the apartment door. Wood-Sims heard a knock, looked out and saw

Galloway, who claimed to be a neighbor and asked if he could use a phone. Wood-

Sims testified that Walker told Wood-Sims to open the door and allow him to use

the phone. Galloway, Mann, and Sanders then "pushed" their way into the

apartment.

Mann and Galloway went into the bedroom where Walker was located.

Wood-Sims and Sanders stayed in the living room. Galloway testified that he went

to the dresser where he believed the money and drugs were, and Mann began

2
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wrestling with Walker. Galloway testified that as he continued to search for money

and drugs, Sanders came into the bedroom, and he saw Mann and Sanders hold

Walker down on the bed.1 Galloway testified that before he left the bedroom he

saw Sanders hit Walker "up to four times in her stomach." Galloway went into the

second bedroom, still searching for the money and drugs, and when he returned

to the first bedroom he saw Walker on the floor with a belt around her neck.

Galloway testified that Sanders was sitting next to her holding one end of it.

Galloway grabbed everything he thought he could sell, and saw Sanders

take some things from the living room. Before the men left, Mann told Wood-Sims

that they had to make it look "legit," and then Mann hit her in the face with his open

hand. After the men left, Wood-Sims went into the bedroom and saw Walker sitting

on the floor with her eyes closed and head slouched. She saw a belt around

Walker's neck. Wood-Sims tried to wake up Walker, poured water on her, and

pushed on her chest. She heard Walker wheeze and ran outside to get help.

Wood-Sims found a woman outside who then came into the apartment, called the

police, and did CPR (cardiopulmonary resuscitation) on Walker.

Sanders's testimony differed greatly from Galloway's. Sanders testified
that, on June 3, 2013, Sanders asked Mann to take him to a store, but instead
Mann drove him to an apartment in Kent. Sanders testified that he went into the
apartment thinking that someone owed Mann money, or that Mann was going to
sell someone something. Sanders testified that someone called him to the back
room and when he got there he saw a woman on the floor. Sanders stated that he
noticed a belt around the woman's neck. He stated that he never touched the belt.
On cross-examination, Sanders admitted that he previously told Detective
Brendan Wales that he agreed to help Mann get money and drugs from Walker's
apartment in exchange for $2,000.

3
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When paramedics arrived, Walker had no pulse, was not breathing, and

showed a "flat line" on the cardiac monitor. Although they were able to restart her

heart with medication, Walker did not survive. The medical examiner performed

an autopsy and concluded that Walker bled to death internally, due to blunt force

trauma to her liver.

On March 12, 2014, the State charged Galloway, Wood-Sims, Sanders, and

Mann with first degree felony murder. Wood-Sims and Galloway eventually

admitted their involvement, pleaded guilty to second degree murder, and testified

for the State at Sanders's and Mann's joint trial. The jury found Sanders and Mann

guilty as charged. The trial court sentenced Mann to 493 months of confinement.

Mann appeals.

DISCUSSION

Mann makes six arguments. First, he argues that the trial court erred in

denying his motion to sever his trial from his codefendant. Second, he argues that

the State failed to present sufficient evidence to prove the predicate crime of

burglary. Third, he argues that the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury

on the lesser crime of second degree felony murder. Fourth, he argues that he

received ineffective assistance of counsel because counsel failed to request a

cautionary jury instruction on accomplice testimony. Fifth, he argues that repeated

references to his propensity for crime deprived him of a fair trial. Sixth, he argues

that cumulative error deprived him of a fair trial.

4
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I. Severance 

Mann contends that the trial court should have granted his motion to sever

his trial from Sanders. He argues that he and Sanders presented antagonistic and

irreconcilable defenses. And, he claims that the massive quantity of evidence and

Sanders's incriminating out-of-court statements also necessitated the trial court to

sever the trials.

A defendant seeking severance must demonstrate that a joint trial would be

so manifestly prejudicial as to outweigh the concern for judicial economy. State v. 

Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 68-69, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). This court reviews a trial

court's decision on a motion to sever trials for manifest abuse of discretion. Id. at

69. On appeal, the defendant must be able to point to specific prejudice. Id. The

court infers specific prejudice from:

"(1) antagonistic defenses conflicting to the point of being
irreconcilable and mutually exclusive; (2) a massive and complex
quantity of evidence making it almost impossible for the jury to
separate evidence as it related to each defendant when determining
each defendant's innocence or guilt; (3) a co-defendant's statement
inculpating the moving defendant; (4) or gross disparity in the weight
of the evidence against the defendants."

State v. Jones, 93 Wn. App. 166, 171-72, 968 P.2d 888 (1998) (quoting State v. 

Canedo-Astorga, 79 Wn. App. 518, 528, 903 P.2d 500 (1995)).

A. Irreconcilable Defenses 

Mutually antagonistic defenses alone are insufficient to compel separate

trials. State v. Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 74, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). Rather, it must

be demonstrated that the conflict is so prejudicial that defenses are irreconcilable,

and the jury will unjustifiably infer that this conflict alone demonstrates that both

5
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are guilty. Id. For defenses to be irreconcilable, they must be mutually exclusive

to the extent that one defense must be believed if the other defense is disbelieved.

State v. Johnson, 147 Wn. App. 276, 285, 194 P.3d 1009 (2008). The appellate

court rarely overturns a trial court's denial of a motion to sever on the basis of

mutually exclusive defenses, even when one defendant tries to blame another. Id.

And, the desire of one defendant to exculpate himself by inculpating a codefendant

is insufficient to compel separate trials. Id. at 286.

Mann moved to sever his trial from Sanders after the State rested its case.

Sanders had already moved pretrial for severance, and the court denied the

motion. When Mann moved to sever after the State rested, Sanders had not

presented evidence or testimony to the jury.

In his trial memo, Sanders described his defense as follows,

At its core, Mr. Sanders' defense is three-pronged: First, he
did not know of or intend to participate in a robbery or burglary.
Second, he is of good, honest, law-abiding character. Third,
codefendant Corey Mann is of violent, dishonest character and has
a character trait of intimidating others, character traits which bear
directly upon Mr. Sanders' acts and failure to act on the day of the
crime and in the police interrogations which followed.

When Sanders moved to sever, counsel described his defense as follows,

[Tjhe essential nature of Mr. Sanders' defense is that he would not
have been where he was on the day of the crime were it not for the
coercion of Mr. Mann, and it is Mr. Sanders' character that allows us
or helps us argue that.

. . . Offensively, we hope to show that Mr. Mann's character is
one of violence, intimidation, and dishonesty.

6
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Pretrial, Mann's position on Sanders's severance motion was "contingent on

whether or not the Court will allow any character evidence" against Mann.

The trial court denied Sanders's motion to sever, and excluded evidence of

"Mann's reputation for violence, manipulation, or untruthfulness." Tlie trial court

also ruled, "Sanders may not refer to any prior misconduct of Mann in opening

statement and may not cross[-]examine any state witness about prior misconduct

of Mann."

When Mann moved to sever after the State rested, the trial court stated,

And just so that the suspense is avoided, I assure you, [Sanders's
counsel] is going to probably attack [Mann]. I think their interests are
in opposition. He has a different theory of the case. I think that that's
evident.

That in and of itself is not a reason to sever this trial. Just
because they may be in opposition does not mean that this trial
should be severed, and that's why this Court has denied the motions
already on two occasions.

The trial court denied the severance motion.

Mann contends that he and Sanders presented irreconcilable defenses.

The court's analysis on the defendant's motion to sever in Sublett is instructive.

There, codefendants Sublett and Olsen were charged with premeditated first

degree murder and, alternatively, felony murder. Sublett,176 Wn.2d at 67. Sublett

was convicted of both premeditated first degree murder and felony murder, while

Olsen was convicted solely of felony murder. Id. Sublett's defense was a general

denial of involvement in the murder. Id. at 69. He did not testify during trial. it

Olson's defense was that he was not present for the murder, and he helped move

7
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the body after the fact only because Sublett threatened him. Id. Our Supreme

Court found that the trial court did not err in denying Sublett's motion to sever:

While the two defenses are irreconcilable, they do not reach the level
where the jury would unjustifiably infer from the conflict that both are
guilty. The jury could have believed either or neither defendant,
though it could not believe both. That is, it could have believed that
Sublett did not participate at all and inferred that Olsen was lying. Or
it could have believed Olsen and inferred that Sublett was lying.
Given the jury's verdict, it did not believe either of them, and Sublett
has not shown that this was due to the conflicting defenses rather
than the evidence presented during trial. Nor did Sublett cite to any
evidence admissible only as to Olsen, which prejudiced his defense.
The trial court, therefore, did not err in denying severance.

Id. at 69-70 (footnote omitted) (internal citation omitted).

At the time the trial court denied the motion to sever, Sanders's stated

defense was that he "did not know of or did not intend to participate in a robbery

or burglary." He also claimed that "he would not have been where he was on the

day of the crime were it not for the coercion of Mr. Mann." Here, as in Sublett, the

jury could have believed either or neither defendant, but it could not have believed

both. The jury's verdict finding both Mann and Sanders guilty demonstrates that it

did not believe either defense. Mann argues that his case is distinguishable from

Sublett because evidence that would not have been admissible against Mann in a

separate trial was admitted in the joint trial. Mann asserts that had he and Sanders

been tried separately, Sanders's out-of-court statements to Detective Wales,

where he confessed that he willingly participated in the robbery in exchange for

$1,000, would not have been admissible against him. And, Mann argues further

that because of a defendant's Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination,

8
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Sanders could not have been compelled to testify against Mann in a separate trial,

while his own trial or direct appeal were pending.

But, in  State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 753-54, 278 P.3d 653 (2012), the

court held that a defendant could not show prejudice from a joint trial, in part

because he offered nothing to suggest that his codefendant's testimony would not

have been available and admissible against him if the trials had been severed.

The Emery court relied on United States v. Throckmorton, 87 F.3d 1069, 1072 (9th

Cir.1996). 174 Wn.2d at 754. In Throckmorton, the defendant argued that his

codefendant would not have testified against him in a separate trial because of his

right against self-incrimination. 87 F.3d at 1072. The court found no support for

this argument because the codefendant declined to assert his Fifth Amendment

right in the joint trial in which his own guilt was the question before the jury. Id.

Likewise, here, if Sanders had been tried separately, he could have been

available to testify in Mann's separate trial. And, the record does not support

Mann's argument that Sanders would not have testified against him in a separate

trial, since he did not assert his right against self-incrimination in the joint trial.

Our Supreme Court "has consistently held that the mere fact that evidence

admissible against one defendant would not be admissible against a codefendant

if the latter were tried alone does not necessitate severance." State v. 6N/throw,

114 Wn.2d 713, 721, 790 P.2d 154 (1990). And, in Washington cases where the

trial court instructed the jury not to consider certain evidence of one defendant,

such as a confession, against the codefendant no reversible error was found. Id.

Here, the trial court instructed the jury, "A separate crime is charged against each

9
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defendant. You must decide the case of each defendant separately. Your verdict

as to one defendant should not control your verdict as to the other defendant."

Mann also argues that he suffered specific prejudice when Sanders

introduced testimony from Juan Rodriguez. Rodriguez, who was in custody with

Mann, testified that Mann told him "there was supposed to be money and drugs

there, and that during the whole thing, he ended up slamming the girl to the ground

and choking her." Rodriguez also testified that Mann described Walker as "a rich,

little, white bitch." Mann argued at trial that Sanders called Rodriguez to testify to

put Mann in as "bad light as possible." But, the State identified Rodriguez as a

potential witness before trial. Though it did not call him to testify, it could have

called Rodriguez to testify had Mann been tried separately.

Mann cannot show that the jury unjustifiably inferred his guilt from the

conflict in defenses alone, because the direct and circumstantial evidence against

him was strong. Wood-Sims testified that she and Mann agreed to rob Walker's

apartment. Galloway also testified that, when Mann picked him up from the skate

park, Mann told him that they were going to rob the apartment. Therefore,

Sanders's out-of-court statement to Wales was cumulative of evidence already

before the jury. Mann has not shown that the jury found him guilty due to the

conflicting defenses rather than the evidence presented during trial. And, the trial

court gave the appropriate instruction, directing the jury to decide each defendant's

case separately, and jurors are presumed to follow their instructions. Emery, 174

Wn.2d at 754.

10
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B. Massive and Complex Quantity of Evidence

Mann argues next that the massive and complex quantity of evidence at

trial necessitated severance. Mann points to the "10 days of testimony,"

"complicated cell tower data," "medical and fingerprint testimony," and "[n]early 50

exhibits" as examples of the massive and complex evidence at trial.

This court will infer specific prejudice from "a massive and complex quantity

of evidence making it almost impossible for the jury to separate evidence as it

related to each defendant when determining each defendant's innocence or guilt."

Jones, 93 Wn. App. at 171-72. With the exception of Sanders's out-of-court

statement addressed above, Mann does not identify any evidence that would not

have been presented had the trials been severed. Mann has not shown that the

evidence was so massive or complex that it was impossible for the jury to

segregate the evidence relative to each codefendant.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mann's motion to

sever.

II. Predicate Crime of Burglary 

Mann argues next that the State failed to present sufficient evidence to

prove the predicate crime of burglary required to support the felony murder

conviction. The State presented to the jury two alternative means of committing

felony murder: (1) felony murder predicated on first degree robbery; and (2) felony

murder predicated on first degree burglary. Mann concedes that the State

presented sufficient evidence of the predicate crime of robbery, but argues that it

did not present sufficient evidence of burglary. Citing State v. Maupin, 63 Wn. App.

11
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887, 822 P.2d 355 (1992), Mann contends that the remedy is reversal and remand

for a new trial in which the jury is instructed only on felony murder with a predicate

crime of robbery.

The Washington Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to a

unanimous jury verdict. WASH. CONST. art. I, § 21. In alternative means cases,

where the criminal offense can be committed in more than one way, an expression

of jury unanimity is not required provided each alternative means presented to the

jury is supported by sufficient evidence. State v. Woodlyn, 188 Wn.2d 157, 164,

392 P.3d 1062 (2017). But, when there is insufficient evidence to support one of

the alternative means and the jury does not specify that it unanimously agreed on

the other alternative, the conviction cannot stand. State v. Armstrong, 188 Wn.2d

333, 343-44, 394 P.3d 373 (2017).

Sufficiency of the evidence is a question of constitutional law this court

reviews de novo. State v. Rich, 184 Wn.2d 897, 903, 365 P.3d 746 (2016). The

State bears the burden of proving the elements of a crime beyond a reasonable

doubt. Id. In reviewing a sufficiency of the evidence claim, we view the evidence

in the light most favorable to the State to determine whether any rational trier of

fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Witherspoon, 180

Wn.2d 875, 883, 329 P.3d 888 (2014). A challenge to the sufficiency of the

evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences

that can be draw from such evidence. See id. We defer to the trier of fact on

issues of witness credibility. Id.

12
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To support the felony murder conviction based on burglary in the first

degree, the State had to prove that Mann or an accomplice entered or remained

unlawfully in a building with intent to commit a crime against a person or property

therein, and in entering or while in the building, Mann or an accomplice assaulted

any person. RCW 9A.52.020(1). A person "enters or remains unlawfully" when

he or she is not then "licensed, invited, or otherwise privileged to so enter or

remain." RCW 9A.52.010(2).

Mann contends insufficient evidence supports finding beyond a reasonable

doubt that he or an accomplice entered or remained unlawfully in Walker's

apartment, an essential element of burglary. Mann claims that neither he nor the

accomplices entered or remained unlawfully in the apartment because Walker

invited Wood-Sims to her apartment, allowed Wood-Sims to answer the door, and

told her to let the men inside.

Only the person who resides in or otherwise has authority over the property

may grant license to enter the premises. State v. Grimes, 92 Wn. App. 973, 978,

966 P.2d 394 (1998). The license to enter or remain may be limited as to time,

place, or purpose, and be revoked. State v. Lambert, 199 Wn. App. 51, 73, 395

P.3d 1080 (2017), review denied, 189 Wn.2d 1017, 404 P.3d 499 (2017), cert.

denied, 138 S. Ct. 1571 (2018); see State v. Collins, 110 Wn.2d 253, 261, 751

P.2d 837 (1988). The trier of fact may infer "a limitation on or revocation of the

privilege to be on the premises" from the circumstances of the case. Collins, 110

Wn.2d at 261.
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In Collins, the victims let the defendant, a stranger, into their home to use

the telephone and the defendant raped the victims. Id. at 254-55. The court

concluded the license to enter was limited to a specific area and purpose, to use

the telephone. Id. at 261. When the defendant exceeded the limitation to place

and purpose, his license to remain was implicitly revoked. Id.

Here, there is evidence that Walker told Wood-Sims to answer the door to

Galloway. After there was a knock on Walker's apartment door, Wood-Sims

testified,

I only seen [sic] one person, and that was Galloway, and he asked if
he could use the phone, because something happened with his car;
he was her neighbor.

And then Tasha was in the room, because she thought that it
was Tyrrell[ Walker]. And we had cocaine out, and Tyrrell didn't
know that she was doing drugs; so she kind of panicked. So she
said, go get the door, and she shut the bedroom door.

And then I asked her, can I open the door? I told her that it
was her neighbor, and she said, go ahead, let them use the phone.

Wood-Sims testified that she did not recognize Galloway at the time and did not

know that he was part of Mann's group. But, she also testified that when Galloway

knocked on the door she knew that the men "were going to take Tasha's money

and her pills." And, Wood-Sims testified that she lied to Walker when she told her

that somebody was there to use the phone, to accomplish the plan of robbing

Walker. Further, Sanders testified on cross-examination that when he and the

other men went to Walker's door, he heard a woman on the other side of the door

say "don't let them in." Viewed in the light most favorable to the State, this is

sufficient evidence to establish unlawful entry.
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Moreover, under Collins, the trier of fact could infer that Galloway and his

accomplices had an invitation or license only to a specific area of the home and

for the single purpose, to use the phone. As in Collins, Walker purportedly

permitted Wood-Sims to let Galloway in for that specific purpose. Once Galloway

and the other men went into the other rooms of Walker's apartment and held

Walker down as they looked for drugs and money, any privilege Galloway and the

other men had up to that time was revoked. See Collins, 110 Wn.2d at 261.

We find that the evidence was sufficient for the jury to determine that Mann

and his accomplices both entered and remained unlawfully in Walker's apartment

on June 3, 2013. Thus, the State presented sufficient evidence to prove the

predicate crime of burglary required to support the first degree felony murder

conviction.

III. Inferior Degree Jury Instruction 

Next, Mann argues that the trial court erroneously refused to instruct the

jury on the inferior crime of second degree felony murder.

A crime is an inferior degree of another when

(1) the statutes for both the charged offense and the proposed
inferior degree offense "proscribe but one offense"; (2) the
information charges an offense that is divided into degrees, and the
proposed offense is an inferior degree of the charged offense; and
(3) there is evidence that the defendant committed only the inferior
offense.

State v. Peterson, 133 Wn.2d 885, 891, 948 P.2d 381 (1997) (quoting State v. 

Foster, 91 Wn.2d 466, 472, 589 P.2d 789 (1979 and State v. Daniels, 56 Wn. App.

646, 651, 784 P.2d 579 (1990)).
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This court reviews a trial court's decision to give a jury instruction de novo

if based upon a matter of law, or for abuse of discretion if based upon a matter of

fact. Taylor v. Intuitive Surgical, Inc., 187 Wn.2d 743, 767, 389 P.3d 517 (2017).

Thus, where the parties' disagreement about an instruction is based on a factual

dispute, it is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Id. To determine whether to give

an instruction, the trial judge must merely decide whether the record contains the

kind of facts to which the doctrine applies. Id.

Mann requested the court to instruct the jury on second degree felony

murder predicated on either second degree theft or assault. The trial court

declined to give the inferior offense instruction based on the test established in

State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). Mann asserts the trial

court should have used the test in Peterson instead and should have found he

satisfied that test for the instruction. Our Supreme Court has pointed out that the

Workman test to determine if a crime is a lesser included offense differs from the

test to determine if a defendant is entitled to an inferior degree offense instruction.

State v. Tamalini, 134 Wn.2d 725, 732, 953 P.2d 450 (1998). The difference is in

the legal prongs of the tests. Compare Workman, 90 Wn.2d at 447-48 with

Peterson, 133 Wn.2d at 891. The difference is immaterial in this case, though,

because both the Workman test for lesser degree instruction and the Peterson test

for an inferior degree offense instruction require the same factual prong: that the

evidence in the case supports that only the lesser or inferior degree offense was
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committed.2 See State v. Condon, 182 Wn.2d 307, 316, 343 P.3d 357 (2015);

Peterson, 133 Wn.2d at 891.

Here, the evidence at trial does not support that Mann committed only

second degree felony murder predicated on second degree theft. Wood-Sims

testified that Walker purportedly permitted Wood-Sims to let Galloway in so that

he could use a phone. Once Galloway, Mann, and Sanders went into the other

rooms of Walker's apartment and held Walker down as they looked for drugs and

money, any privilege Galloway and the other men had up to that time was revoked.

See Collins, 110 Wn.2d at 261. As concluded above, there was sufficient evidence

that Mann or his accomplices entered or remained unlawfully in Walker's

apartment, a required element for burglary. There was also ample evidence that

the men took property from Walker's apartment. Therefore, the evidence does not

support that Mann and his accomplices committed only the lesser offense of theft.

The trial court reasonably determined that there was no factual support for an

instruction on second degree felony murder based on theft.

After the State responded to Mann's request for a second degree felony

murder instruction predicated on theft, Mann amended the instruction request to

include the predicate felony of assault. Under RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b), a person

commits second degree felony murder if he causes a person's death in the course

of committing a felony not enumerated under the statute for first degree felony

murder. The felonies under first degree murder include robbery in the first or

2 Because Mann's requested instruction fails the factual prong of either test,
we need not reach the parties arguments over whether Mann satisfied the legal
prong of the Peterson test.
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second degree and burglary in the first degree. RCW 9A.32.030(c). Since there

was substantial evidence that Mann and his accomplices committed robbery or

burglary, the trial court did not err in finding that there was also not a factual basis

for only the inferior offense of second degree felony murder based on assault.

Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to instruct

the jury on the inferior offense of second degree felony murder based on theft or

assault.

IV. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

Mann argues that he was denied effective assistance of counsel because

his counsel failed to request a cautionary instruction on accomplice testimony.

The Sixth Amendment right to counsel includes the right to effective

assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct.

2052, 80 L. Ed.2d 674 (1984). In order to prevail on a claim of ineffective

assistance of counsel, the defendant must demonstrate (1) deficient performance,

that his attorney's representation fell below the standard of reasonableness, and

(2) resulting prejudice, that but for the deficient performance, the result would have

been different. State v. Hassan, 151 Wn. App. 209, 216-17, 211 P.3d 441 (2009).

If a defendant fails to establish either prong, we need not inquire further. Id. at

217.

To establish deficient performance, the defendant has the heavy burden of

showing that his attorney made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning

as the counsel guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Id. This court

approaches an ineffective assistance of counsel argument with a strong
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presumption that counsel's representation was effective. State v. McFarland, 127

Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The defendant has the burden to show

that based on the record, there are no legitimate strategic or tactical reasons for

the challenged conduct. Hassan, 151 Wn. App. at 217. And, to establish

ineffective assistance based on counsel's failure to request a jury instruction, the

defendant must show that he was entitled to the instruction. State v. Olson, 182

Wn. App. 362, 373, 329 P.3d 121 (2014).

It is. always the better practice for a trial court to give the cautionary

instruction whenever accomplice testimony is introduced. State v. Harris, 102

Wn.2d 148, 155, 685 P.2d 584 (1984), overruled on other grounds by State v. 

McKinsey, 116 Wn.2d 911, 914, 810 P.2d 907 (1991). Atrial court's failure to give

this instruction is reversible error where the State relies solely on accomplice

testimony. Id. But, it is not reversible error "[i]f the accomplice testimony was

substantially corroborated by testimonial, documentary or circumstantial

evidence." Id. Evidence sufficiently corroborates accomplice testimony if it fairly

tends to connect the accused with the commission of the crime charged. State v. 

Calhoun, 13 Wn. App. 644, 648, 536 P.2d 668 (1975). It is not necessary that the

accomplice be corroborated in every part of his testimony. Id.

The State presented an abundance of accomplice testimony at Mann's trial.

Mann, Sanders, Galloway, and Wood-Sims were all charged with first degree

murder in the same charging document. Galloway and Wood-Sims ultimately

pleaded guilty to second degree murder and testified for the State against Mann

and Sanders.
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But, the State presented other evidence that corroborated their testimony,

such as cell phone records, cell tower records showing phone movement, medical

testimony, fingerprint data, and an autopsy report. The State presented evidence

that Galloway's fingerprints were found inside Walker's apartment. The State used

cell phone records to show that the cell phone Mann was using sent a signal to the

cell tower close to Walker's apartment in the hour before Walker was killed.

Detective Wales further corroborated testimony from Wood-Sims and Galloway.

Wales testified that he realized from Mann's phone records that Wood-Sims and

Mann had communicated extensively, and this led him to confront Wood-Sims with

the phone records. McGee testified about the items missing from his and Walker's

apartment after the robbery. The State also presented evidence that Jessica

Ozuna Mann, Mann's wife, pawned a gold watch stolen from McGee and Walker's

apartment.

This is not an exhaustive summary of the corroborating evidence in this

case, but it shows that the State sufficiently corroborated the accomplice testimony

to fairly connect Mann with the commission of the crime charged. Thus, the trial

court's failure to instruct the jury on accomplice testimony is not reversible error,

and Mann was not prejudiced by his counsel's failure to request the instruction.

Mann has not shown that he received ineffective assistance of counsel.

V. References to Mann's Criminal History and Motions for Mistrial 

Next, Mann contends that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied

his motion(s) for mistrial after repeated references to his criminal history in violation

of pretrial rulings. .
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Following the trial court's pretrial motions, the State instructed its witnesses

not to talk about Mann's character or that Mann had ever been in jail or prison.

But, Kamela Wood, Wood-Sims mother, mentioned in her testimony that Mann had

been "locked up" and at one point that he had gotten "out of prison." During

Sanders's cross-examination he testified, about Mann, "And I know he wasn't just

going to just let me jump out [of] the car and walk away. He would probably come

look for me, and gun me down or something. So, with that type of individual, that's

what I felt like." The trial court promptly instructed the jury to disregard both Wood's

and Sanders's improper statements.

Mann moved for a mistrial after the State's opening statements in which

counsel stated that Mann had been jailed, and again moved for a mistrial after

Wood's reference to Mann's time in prison. The court denied both motions. The

court gave the defense-proposed limiting instruction, "You heard evidence that

defendant Corey Mann was in custody in 2013. You are not to consider the fact

that the defendant Corey Mann was in custody as evidence of guilty in this matter."

Mann argues that the cumulative effect of repeated references to his propensity

for crime deprived him of a fair trial.

A trial court's denial of a motion for a mistrial is reviewed for abuse of

discretion. State v. Gamble, 168 Wn.2d 161, 177, 225 P.3d 973 (2010). A denial

of a motion for mistrial should be overturned only when there is a substantial

likelihood that the prejudice affected the verdict. Id. Thus, when a trial irregularity

occurs, the court must decide its prejudicial effect. Id. In determining the effect of

an irregularity, the court examines (1) its seriousness; (2) whether it involved
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cumulative evidence; and (3) whether the trial court properly instructed the jury to

disregard it. Id. A trial court has wide discretion to cure trial irregularities resulting

from improper witness statements. Id. In the context of a given case it may be

that improper evidence did not affect the outcome of the trial, and in such situations

a trial court may deny a motion for a mistrial. Id. Although violations of pretrial

orders are generally viewed as serious irregularities, the seriousness is diminished

where the improper testimony is not intentionally elicited and is not provided by

"professional" witnesses like law enforcement officers. See id. at 178.

Here, the witnesses were not professionals, and their remarks were not

responsive to the prosecutor's questions. While the remarks at issue violated the

trial court's pretrial order, the jury was instructed to disregard both statements.

Given the curative instructions, and in the context of the trial as a whole and all the

evidence, we conclude that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying

Mann's motions for mistrial.

VI. Cumulative Error

Finally, Mann argues that the cumulative effect of errors at his trial deprived

him of a fair trial and that this court should reverse and remand.

The cumulative error doctrine allows an appellate court to reverse a

conviction based on the combined effect of a number of errors, even if each error

was individually harmless. State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 279, 149 P.3d 646

(2006). "The doctrine does not apply where the errors are few and have little or

no effect on the outcome of the trial." Id.
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We found above that either the errors did not occur, or that Mann has not

demonstrated prejudice from any of the errors he alleges. Therefore, we reject

Mann's cumulative error claim.

We affirm.

WE CONCUR:

23



NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH P.L.L.C.

July 25, 2018 - 10:39 AM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Court of Appeals Division I
Appellate Court Case Number:   75144-1
Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington, Respondent v. Corey A. Mann, Appellant
Superior Court Case Number: 14-1-01856-4

The following documents have been uploaded:

751441_Petition_for_Review_20180725103737D1782514_8411.pdf 
    This File Contains: 
     Petition for Review 
     The Original File Name was PFR 75144-1-I.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

jennifer.joseph@kingcounty.gov
nielsene@nwattorney.net
paoappellateunitmail@kingcounty.gov

Comments:

Copy mailed to: Corey Mann, 891805 Washington State Penitentiary 1313 North 13th Avenue Walla Walla, WA
99362

Sender Name: John Sloane - Email: Sloanej@nwattorney.net 
    Filing on Behalf of: Mary Swift - Email: swiftm@nwattorney.net (Alternate Email: )

Address: 
1908 E. Madison Street 
Seattle, WA, 98122 
Phone: (206) 623-2373

Note: The Filing Id is 20180725103737D1782514




